Shell Oil Company,

Petitioner,

v.

Department of Revenue,

Respondent.

SID J. WHITE MAR 8 1985 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By\_\_\_\_\_\_ Chief Deputy Clerk Case Nos. 66,240 66,254

In the Supreme Court

40080004,047

On Review from the District Court of Appeal, First District

)

)

Petitioner's Initial Brief

Elizabeth C. Burton, Tax Attorney Shell Oil Company Post Office Box 2463 Houston, Texas 77001 (713) 241-2414 Arthur J. England, Jr., Esq. Sandra S. Barker, Esq. Fine Jacobson Schwartz Nash Block & England, P.A. 2401 Douglas Road Miami, Florida 33134 (305) 446-2200

#

#### Preliminary Statement

This is a proceeding to review a decision of the First District Court of Appeal which upholds the imposition of Florida corporate income tax on oil and gas production income of Shell Oil Company on the Outer Continental Shelf of the United States.<sup>1</sup> Shell excluded the income derived from its production on the Outer Continental Shelf from its Florida income, on the basis of federal preemption and supremacy directives prescribed in the United States Constitution and in federal legislation governing the Outer Continental Shelf. These directives are also acknowledged expressly in Florida's income tax code.

The district court upheld Florida's right to tax this income by framing the controversy as one involving nothing more than income derived "from the sale in the United States" of oil which was extracted from wells located on the Outer Continental Shelf. Based on that characterization, the court held that income from sales of that nature are not excludable from Florida income. As the court apparently misconceived the constitutional and statutory limitations on the reach of Florida's taxing jurisdiction, Shell asked that the court certify to this Court whether the department is prohibited by federal law from taxing

1The district court's decision is reported at 9 F.L.W. 769, rehearing denied at 9 F.L.W. 2315. income derived from the Outer Continental Shelf.<sup>2</sup> The district court agreed that the issue is important and one of first impression in the nation, but again reverting to its characterization of the issue as one involving simply the sale of oil in the United States certified the following question:

> Whether the State of Florida is prohibited by 43 U.S.C. §1333(a)(2)A from imposing a tax upon income derived from the sale in the United States of oil extracted from the Outer Continental Shelf?

As Shell will demonstrate, the question asked is not the question posed by this lawsuit.

Shell's challenge to the imposition of income tax in this case asks

whether Florida is prohibited from taxing income from the production of crude oil and natural gas on property of the United States denominated as the Outer Continental Shelf.

A fundamental distinction separates the two questions. The district court's question hinges on when income is taxed, an issue of timing only.

<sup>2</sup>9 F.L.W. at 2316.

-2-

It is characterized in the world of taxation by the label "realization", and it is normally determined by reference to a "sale".

The key to this lawsuit, however, hinges on <u>where</u> income is earned, for Florida is absolutely barred from taxing income which is earned on the far-flung federal lands which are generically called Outer Continental Shelf. The Court's responsibility in this case, we believe, will be simplified by bearing in mind that the barrier to taxation here is geographical, not temporal, and that this barrier operates irrespective of when the occasion for taxing is otherwise appropriate.

-3-

#### Statement of the Case

Shell brought suit in Leon County Circuit Court challenging the assessment of Florida corporate income tax on Shell's Outer Continental Shelf production income for its fiscal years 1972 through 1975.<sup>3</sup> In an entirely separate issue, the trial court sustained Shell's position that intangible drilling costs must be included in the property factor of its apportionment formula.

Both parties appealed to the district court, which affirmed the trial court's summary judgment in both respects. Following certification of the Outer Continental Shelf income question, both parties independently asked this Court to accept the case for review.

On December 14, 1985, the Court accepted jurisdiction, consolidated the parties' petitions, and set a briefing schedule. At Shell's request, a revised briefing schedule was approved which set March 4 as the service date for Shell's initial brief.

-4-

<sup>3</sup>An alternate contention raised by Shell in its complaint, requesting relief from the department's interpretation of the apportionment formula, was withdrawn before the trial court entered final summary judgment. As a result, the trial court never ruled on that issue.

Shell has invoked the Court's discretionary jurisdiction, on the basis of the district court's certified question, in order to obtain a declaration that the exclusion of all Outer Continental Shelf income from Florida's income tax is required by Florida and federal law. As to the apportionment issue discussed in the district court's opinion, which involves only how much of the income earned by a multi-state enterprise may be attributed to Florida as opposed to what items actually compose the amount of taxable income itself, Shell believes the district court has mistakenly sanctioned an unconstitutional distortion of Florida's apportionment formula.<sup>4</sup> That is, the court has allowed the formula for attributing to Florida a portion of Shell's nationwide business activities to skew Florida's share in a way which affronts the United States Constitution and federal law. To avoid confusion on the important "exclusion" issue, however, Shell elects not to argue the apportionment issue before the Court.

-5-

<sup>4</sup>The appropriate correlation of includable income items, and the formula for apportioning that income to Florida, was identified in Heftler Construction Co. v. Department of Revenue, 334 So.2d 129 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976), cert. denied, 341 So.2d 1082 (Fla. 1977). Cf. Continental Illinois National Bank & Trust Co. v. Lenckos, 464 N.E.2d 1064 (Ill.), cert. denied, 105 S.Ct. 296 (1984); see also Container Corp. of America v. Franchise Tax Bd., 463 U.S. 159 (1983), describing the necessity for an apportionment formula which contains both internal and external consistency.

#### Statement of the Facts

Shell is a Delaware corporation with its principal offices in Houston, Texas. Its business includes the extraction or production of oil and gas in more than a dozen of the United States, and on the Outer Continental Shelf of the United States. (R. 62). Shell refines petroleum products in seven states, operates chemical plants in some of those states, and markets its products throughout the United States. Within Florida, Shell's principal business is marketing oil and chemical products. (R.61).

A portion of Shell's net income for the years in controversy was attributable to Shell's extraction and disposition of crude oil and natural gas from the Outer Continental Shelf. The Outer Continental Shelf is defined in 43 U.S.C. § 1331(a) as "all submerged lands lying seaward and outside the area of lands beneath navigable waters as defined in section 1301 of this title, and of which the subsoil and seabed appertain to the United States and are subject to its jurisdiction and control. . . ." Section 1301 of Title 43, United States Code, is part of he Submerged Lands Act, 43 U.S.C. §§ 1301-1343, and defines "land beneath navigable waters" as essentially that area within three miles of coast of

-6-

the United States.<sup>5</sup>

The right to conduct exploration and production activities on the Outer Continental Shelf was acquired by lease from the United States government. For the privilege of conducting its vast and extensive exploration and production activities there, Shell pays the United States a negotiated royalty on the oil and gas production which results from these activities. By law, no taxes, fees, or royalties of any kind are payable to any state on this production. 43 U.S.C. §§ 1331-43.

The Outer Continental Shelf is not a geographic feature so much as a legal term describing all underwater lands three miles or more from the shore of any state. The United States has established economic and territorial jurisdiction over the Outer Continental Shelf, which surrounds not only the continental forty-eight states but Alaska and Hawaii. No portion of the Outer Continental Shelf is located in the State of Florida or any other of the fifty states.

-7-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Although not relevant to this case, the jurisdiction of Florida and Texas extend three marine leagues into the Gulf of Mexico rather than three statute miles. <u>United States v.</u> <u>Texas</u>, 339 U.S. 707 (1950); <u>United States v.</u> Florida, 363 U.S. 121 (1960). For reference simplicity, however, Shell will describe the state-federal boundary as a three mile limit throughout this brief.

In non-technical terms, Outer Continental Shelf production activity involves platform drilling into lands below the oceans and seas more than three miles from the territorial limits of any state. The production process consists of the physical acts of erecting platforms, drilling into the seabed, extracting mineral products (oil and gas) from beneath the seabed, delivering them up onto the drilling platform, and then causing their transfer into pipes or barges for delivery to landside receiving points in any one or more of the several states.

Net income in the following amounts was attributable to Shell's production of oil and gas on the Outer Continental Shelf:

Year	Amount
1972	\$ 76,410,281
1973	112,410,386
1974	134,006,600
1975	92,233,400

These amounts represent transfer prices for crude oil and natural gas delivered to pipelines at the producing platforms on the Outer Continental Shelf, less related costs and expenses. In the case of natural gas, all transfers are made by sale to non-affiliated, independent pipeline companies which rent space on the platform. In the case of crude oil, some transfers are made by sale to independent third parties on the platform, but

-8-

most are delivered to Shell's own pipeline for transport to shore.

Neither Shell nor any other petroleum company refines or otherwise changes the character of crude oil on Outer Continental Shelf platforms. Sales of natural gas and crude oil to independent third parties are concluded transactions on the Outer Continental Shelf, and they constitute and have been treated by Shell as taxable events for federal income tax purposes. Earnings from these sales were excluded from Shell's taxable income for Florida income tax purposes.

The transfer of crude oil into Shell's pipeline on the platform also represents a concluded transaction, and likewise generates earnings which are excludable for Florida income tax purposes. The revenue generated by crude oil transfers is determined by the fair market value of crude oil at the wellhead, a standard and accepted method of determining a sales equivalent for several purposes, such as computing royalties paid to the United States government for Outer Continental Shelf leases, computing income from Outer Continental Shelf property under sections 613 and 613A of the Internal Revenue Code in lieu of actual sales to outsiders, and computing the federal windfall profit tax.

Shell has been consistent in its treatment of earnings from arms-length sales of crude oil and natural gas on platforms to outsiders, and the transfer of crude oil at wellhead

-9-

prices into Shell's transporting pipeline on platforms. For each of the years in controversy, Shell excluded all oil and gas production revenue from its adjusted federal income apportionable to Florida, less costs and expenses related to that production income. (R.62).

### Summary of Argument

The Florida corporate income tax code recognizes federal preemption and constitutional tax limitations by expressly excluding from the Florida tax "any item or items of income" which would not be proper to include in Florida income because of a conflict with any federal statute, the Constitution of the United States, or the Constitution of Florida.<sup>6</sup> Congress has enacted legislation which exercises full federal sovereignty over the Outer Continental Shelf, and which expressly declares that "state taxation laws shall not apply to the outer Continental Shelf."<sup>7</sup>

The Florida income tax code is a "state taxation law."<sup>8</sup> Federal law unequivocally preempts all forms of state taxation applicable to income-producing activities on the Outer Continental Shelf. The income earned from sales of natural gas and crude oil on Outer Continental Shelf platforms to third parties, and the income earned from the transfer of crude oil to pipelines in lieu of sales, are excludable items

6§ 220.02(5), Fla. Stat. 743 U.S.C. § 1333(a)(2)(A). 8§ 220.02, Fla. Stat.

-11-

of income for Florida income tax purposes. Shell properly excluded from its Florida net income the income it derived from production activities on the Outer Continental Shelf.

.

#### Argument

Florida is prohibited from imposing a tax on income derived from the production of crude oil and natural gas on property of the United States denominated as the Outer Continental Shelf.

This case involves the tax base on which Florida imposes its excise tax on corporations, measured by net income, for the privilege of doing business in this state.<sup>9</sup> That base is essentially derived from a corporate taxpayer's federal income tax return, with adjustments either allowed by the State of Florida as a matter of legislative grace or required as a consequence of federal and constitutional limitations.

Disregarding computational steps and technical terms in Florida's income tax code which are not germane to this controversy, the tax base for computing Florida's tax is the taxpayer's share of adjusted federal income which is apportioned to Florida under formulae for that purpose contained in chapter 214 and in section 220.15, Florida Statutes.<sup>10</sup> There is no dispute between the parties on this point.

The Florida Legislature, however, has directed that corporate taxpayers deviate for Florida income tax purposes

9§ 220.02(2), Fla. Stat. 10§ 220.12(1), Fla. Stat.

-13-

from the amount they report to the Internal Revenue Service as adjusted federal income. These deviations are dictated by policy reasons unique to Florida, and by constitutional imperatives shared with all states. In the first category are the familiar exclusions of certain income from installment sales, and amounts derived from sales outside the United States.<sup>11</sup> These income items are removed from a corporation's Florida tax base only because the Florida Legislature has made a policy decision for this state that the activity which produces those items is worthy of a special tax accommodation. Shell's exclusion of production income derived from the Outer Continental Shelf is not a matter of legislative beneficence which falls into this category.

The second category of excludable items is built into Florida's income tax code to prevent its reach into impermissible pockets. Items of income in this category are not specifically identified in the code by name. Rather, the legislature has merely acknowledged constitutional limitations and declared that it has no intention of taxing that which it is not permitted to tax. An example of an exclusion by declaration in this category, which is required by a tax

11§§ 220.13(1)(b)2b; 220.13(1)(c), Fla. Stat.

-14-

FINE JACOBSON SCHWARTZ NASH BLOCK & ENGLAND

prohibition in Florida's own Constitution, is the ban on the taxation of any income derived by natural persons, as opposed to artificial entities such as corporations.<sup>12</sup>

Similarly, in recognition of the limitation of state power found in the supremacy clause of the United States Constitution<sup>13</sup> and the correlative doctrine of federal preemption, the legislature has declared generically in section 220.02(5) that Florida will not tax income items protected by the Federal Constitution or preempted by conflicting federal statutes. That section reads:

> It is the intent of the Legislature that, if there is included in any taxpayer's net income subject to tax under this code any item or items of income which are determined to be improperly so included because of a conflict with any federal statute, the Constitution of the United States, or the State Constitution, all such items of income shall be excluded from the net incomes of all taxpayers subject to tax under this code . . .14

12Fla. Const., art. VII, cl. 5; § 220.02(1), Fla. Stat. 13U.S. Const. art. VI, cl. 2.

14Even if a state's income tax code did not contain a provision such as this, of course, constitutional and preemptive limitations would nonetheless bar the taxation of prohibited items.

-15-

Shell's exclusion of Outer Continental Shelf income falls squarely in this category of impermissible taxability.

The federal statutory foundation for exclusion of the income at issue in this case is found in the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act, 43 U.S.C. § 1333(a)(2)(A) ("the OCS Lands Act"). In 1953 Congress passed both the Submerged Lands Act, 43 U.S.C. §§ 1301-15, and the OCS Lands Act, 43 U.C.S. §§ 1331-43. The Submerged Lands Act confirmed proprietary title in each state to the lands and resources beneath and within the navigable water of the state, and placed the outer boundaries of the coastal states at the seaward edge of a three-mile limit.

The OCS Lands Act established clearly that the subsoil and seabed of the Outer Continental Shelf beyond this threemile limit appertain to the United States, and are subject to its jurisdiction, control and power of disposition. 43 U.S.C. § 1332. Section 4(a)(1) of the Act extends the Constitution, laws, and civil and political jurisdiction of the United States to the Outer Continental Shelf, and to all artificial islands and fixed structures which may be erected on the Shelf for the purpose of exploring for, developing, moving, and transporting resources, to the same extent as if the Outer Continental Shelf were an area of exclusive federal jurisdiction located within a state. Section 4(a)(2) of the OCS Lands Act also guarantees the rule of law at platform drilling operations to the extent that federal law may be deficient, by extending the civil and

-16-

criminal laws of adjacent coastal states to the Outer Continental Shelf so long as they are not inconsistent with federal laws and regulations of the Secretary of Interior.

The section of the OCS Lands Act which is critical to this case is Section 1333(a)(2)(A), which flatly states:

State taxation laws shall not apply to the outer Continental Shelf.

The term "state taxation" has been defined to include any and all respects of state and local taxing powers, without any distinction as to designation. <u>Houck v. Little River Drainage</u> <u>Dist.</u>, 239 U.S. 254 (1915); <u>Florida C. & P.R. Co. v. Reynolds</u>, 183 U.S. 471 (1902); <u>Hiers v. Mitchell</u>, 95 Fla. 345, 116 So. 81 (1928); McHenry v. Downer, 116 Cal. 20, 47 P. 779 (1897).

Under this prohibition, the states lack jurisdiction to levy either direct taxes or indirect taxes. <u>James v. Dravo</u> <u>Contracting Co.</u>, 302 U.S. 134 (1937). Any inclusion in Florida's tax base of natural gas and crude oil income derived from the Outer Continental Shelf violates these doctrines.

The situation here is comparable to that explored in <u>Ramah Navajo School Board v. Bureau of Revenue of New Mexico</u>, 458 U.S. 832 (1982). The issue there was also federal preemption, in the context of a state gross receipts tax sought to be imposed on a non-Indian company which contracted for and built an Indian school on federal land. Taxation by New Mexico of the company's revenues from the school project was held to

-17-

be impermissible because federal law had preempted the subject. Just as the burden of the state tax is <u>Ramah</u> actually fell on federal funds set aside for Indian schools notwithstanding that the tax was in form imposed on a non-Indian building contractor subject to New Mexico law,<sup>15</sup> so here the burden of Florida's income tax actually falls on federal undersea resources by adding to the cost of oil and gas production on the Outer Continental Shelf. Indeed, this case is stronger for preemption than <u>Ramah</u>, as there was in that case no federal statute or regulation which expressed clearly congressional intent to foreclose state taxation.

Likewise, in the <u>James</u> case, <u>supra</u>, the Court considered an "annual privilege tax" measured by profits from business and other activities. It held that the state could not levy this tax on a contractor working on government-owned land inasmuch as the United States had acquired exclusive jurisdiction over the site. "Wherever the United States has such jurisdiction the State would have no authority to lay the tax." 302 U.S. at 140. The same principle applies here. Florida has attempted indirectly to tax income earned exclusively on federal property.

15 Ramah Navajo School Bd., 73 L.Ed.2d at 1183.

-18-

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