In the Supreme Court of Florida

Shell Oil Company,
Petitioner,
v.
Department of Revenue,
Respondent.

Case Nos. 66,240
66,254

FILED
SID J. WHITE
APR 8 1985
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By [Signature]
Chief Deputy Clerk

On Review from the District Court
of Appeal, First District

Respondent's Answer Brief

JIM SMITH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

Sharon A. Zahner
Assistant General Counsel
Department of Revenue
The Carlton Building
Tallahassee, FL 32301
(904) 488-0712

Joseph C. Mellichamp, III
Assistant Attorney General
Department of Legal Affairs
The Capitol
Tallahassee, FL 32301
(904) 487-2142

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida Code, founded on federal concepts, recognizes "income,"from the sale, exchange or other disposition of property ... at such time as such income is realized for federal income tax purposes;" (§220.02(4)(a), F.S.). All "sale, exchange or other disposition" of property at issue in the instant case occurred within the state of Florida (or others among the various states), not on the Outer Continental Shelf, and hence no amount is excludable as being attributable to income producing activities recognized as the legal trigger for assignment of income under either federal or Florida law.

Decisions of this Court clearly establish that a reviewing court must follow statutes which are the law of the State and appear to control the matter before the court even though such statutes are not initially brought to the attention of the trial court and/or the appellate court.

The Florida Code requires that a taxpayer's method of accounting shall be the same as the taxpayer's method of accounting used for federal income tax purposes. (§220.42(1), F.S.). Shell elected, for federal (and therefore for Florida) income tax purposes, to deduct intangible drilling costs as a current expense rather than treat them as property, capitalize same and recover the cost thereof through amortization or depletion deductions over several tax years. Accordingly,

by self recognition of denial of status as "property", these costs are properly excludable from the computation of the property factor used for Florida apportionment purposes.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

WHETHER THE STATE OF FLORIDA IS PROHIBITED BY 43 USC §1333(a)(2)(A) FROM IMPOSING A TAX UPON INCOME DERIVED FROM THE SALE IN THE UNITED STATES OF OIL EXTRACTED FROM THE OUTER CONTINENTAL SHELF?

Under §220.11, F.S., Florida imposes a tax on corporations measured by the income of the corporations, essentially on the "taxable income" subject to the Florida corporate tax, with certain modifications. The term "taxable income" is defined as taxable income under §63 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1954, as amended, which provides generally that the term "taxable income" means gross income less deductions allowed under the IRC.

Pursuant to these provisions, the Department required Shell to include, in its "taxable income," income derived from the sale, in the various states of the United States, of oil extracted from oil wells located on the OCS. The income from these sales, which were consummated within the various states, clearly constitutes "gross income" under the IRC. In determining a taxpayer's taxable income for federal income tax purposes, no exclusion or deduction is allowed under the IRC for income from the sale in the various states of oil from the OCS.

Shell is claiming this exclusion for the first time on its Florida corporate tax returns. Had this exclusion been permitted for federal purposes on the federal return, there

would be no economic reason nor legal basis for Shell to separately claim this exclusion for Florida purposes.

Shell contends that an assessment of Florida corporate taxes on income derived from sales of crude oil or natural gas in the various states, which Shell extracted from wells located on the OCS (referred to by Shell as "OCS production income" on page 4 of its initial brief), constitutes the imposition of a state taxation law on the OCS in violation of 43 U.S.C. §1333(a)(2). Section 1333(a)(2), provides, among other things, that "State taxation laws shall not apply to the outer Continental Shelf."

However, requiring Shell to include income, from the sale in the various states, of oil extracted from oil wells located on the OCS, does not constitute the application of a state taxation law on the OCS. All of the oil from the OCS wells was brought into and refined in the various states, where the oil was sold. Florida is therefore assessing tax on income derived from sales which occurred in the various states of the United States. The taxable event that gave rise to the income, which is the subject of this litigation, is the income from the sale of oil, in the various states, not the extraction or transportation of the oil from the OCS.

In the instant case, there is no conflict between the Outer Continental Shelf Lands Act ("OCSLA") and the Florida

corporate tax provisions. The purpose of OCSLA has been explained by the Fifth Circuit Court of Appeals in the case of Continental Oil Company v. Federal Power Commission, 370 F.2d 57, 67 (5th Cir. 1966), reh. den., January 27, 1967 which stated:

Congress passed the OCSLA solely to regulate the "leasing and development. . . of the oil potential of the Continental Shelf." H.R. Rep. No. 413, 83d Cong., 1st Sess. 2-3 (1953), 2 U.S. Code Cong. & Ad. News, p. 2178 (1953).

The legislative intent behind OCSLA has also been explored by the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals in Union Oil Company of California v. Morton, 512 F.2d 743, 747 (9th Cir. 1975) which stated that:

Oil and gas deposits beneath the continental shelf are precious resources belonging to the entire nation. Congress, although encouraging the extraction of these resources by private companies, provided safeguards to insure that their exploitation should inure to the benefit of all.

* * * *

Careful study of the Act confirms that Congress intended to exercise both proprietary powers of a landowner and the police powers of a legislature in regulating leases of publicly owned resources.

In United States v. Maine, 420 U.S. 515, 527, 95 S.Ct. 1155, 1159 (1975), the United States Supreme Court ended States' attempts to offer leases on the OCS and stated that

OCSLA "provided for the orderly development of offshore resources." This result is consistent with the legislative purpose of the OCSLA solely to regulate the leasing and development of the oil potential of the OCS. Continental Oil, supra.

Shell attempts to label some of its income as "OCS production income" by assigning an amount of income, which would have been realized only if oil extracted on the OCS had been sold at the OCS oil wellheads. However, absent a sale, assigning a value to what the oil could have sold for does not constitute income. In fact, the oil was shipped to the various states to be refined and was subsequently sold. The income in question is clearly the income actually realized by Shell upon sales of the oil in the various states. No gross income was realized where the oil was extracted. If income had been realized, Shell would not have had to assume an artificial selling price for the oil at the wellhead site. Since Florida is including in its tax base the income from sales made exclusively in the various states, there is no attempt in the instant case to apply a law of taxation on the OCS.

Shell attempts to use the amount its labels "OCS production income", as an excludable amount. The statement of Shell's claimed exclusion are contained in Shell's brief at page 8. Shell does not contend that the "OCS production income" resulted from sales consummated on the OCS. Rather,

Shell computed a "market value" of the oil extracted on the OCS, (the price of which the oil could have been sold if in fact it had been sold on the OCS) before any sale transactions occurred. All of the crude oil and natural gas actually produced on the OCS, at issue in this case, was in fact transported to the continental United States and sold in the various states. The amounts referred to as "OCS production income" are the amounts claimed by Shell as being excludable "OCS production income" "realized" upon the OCS.

It is essential to Shell's claim that an amount of "gross income" be both recognized and realized; (1) at a point in time before actual sales of such inventory property and; (2) at a place other than within the various states of the United States, within which the sale did occur.

In addressing Shell's claimed exclusion, Florida applied federal concepts of gross income, its recognition and realization under federal income tax laws.

Florida Statute 220.02(4)(a) follows the federal formulation of what constitutes income. It states:

(a) "Income," for purposes of this code, including gains from the sale, exchange, or other disposition of property, be deemed to be created for Florida income tax purposes at such time as such income is realized for federal income tax purposes.

In Eisner v. Macomber, 252 U.S. 189 (1920) the Supreme Court required that income must be "realized". Realization

generally connotes a sale of an asset for cash or its exchange for other property.

Realization occurs when the property is actually sold for its market value and;

"When the last step is taken by which [the taxpayer] obtains the portion of economic gain which has already occurred to him."

Helvering v Horst, 311 U.S. 112 (1940)

Thus while the value of Shells crude oil may be said to have increased in value upon the extractions and movement from the wellhead to the pipeline, income is deemed realized by Shell only upon the sale of oil in the various states.

From the foregoing, no amount of gross income was realized by Shell when the crude oil and gas were extracted on the OCS, nor was any amount of gross income realized upon its transport by Shell into various states. The essential "trigger" for "realization", the consummation of a sale transaction, took place within various states. The amounts of artificially computed "gross income" in Shell's "OCS production income" lacks the essential element of a sales transaction occurring on the OCS. This "OCS production income" is totally devoid of any basis as an exclusion in Federal law. Therefore, the time at which the essential sale transaction took place was a time at which the crude oil and natural gas was no longer on the OCS. This is clearly the "when". However, since the moment in time at which the essential sales transaction took place was

necessarily a moment in which crude oil and natural gas was already within the various states, logic alone demands that the question of "where" is also answered. Shell offers no viable legal authority for its attempted disassociation of "when" from "where". The concepts underlying the applicable federal law do recognize the logical relationship of "when" with "where". The moment in time "when" the sales transaction is recognized as occurring for determination of "when" "gross income" is realized is also used to assign such "gross income" to the place ("where") of sale. The place (or source) of the gross income, is the place at which the crude oil or natural gas is located at the moment of sale, where title and possession thereof are delivered. All title passage and delivery of possession, as to the oil extracted on the OCS at issue in this case, occurred within the various states, not on the OCS.

Furthermore overwhelming confirmation of the federal concept of place of sale as determining the source of gross income is contained in the Balanovski decision of the United States Court of Appeals, Second Circuit, where it stated:

By overwhelming weight of authority, goods are deemed "sold" within the statutory meaning when the seller performs the last act demanded of him to transfer ownership, and title passes to the buyer.

United States v. Balananovsk, 236 F.2d 298, 304 (2d Cir. 1956).

Thus, under Federal concepts, all gross income at issue in this case was both recognized and realized solely at a

time ("when") and at a place ("where") within the various states, not on the OCS, as all sales transactions giving rise to the amounts of gross income related to the crude oil and natural gas extracted from the OCS were consummated within the various states. The fact that the crude oil and natural gas were produced upon the OCS does not give rise to any amount of gross income at the time or place of extraction.

The Florida Tax Code expresses a general intention that it utilizes "concepts of law which have been developed in connection with the income tax laws of the United States. . ." (§220.02, F.S.) Further §220.43(1), F.S., in pertinent part provides that ". . . each taxpayer shall take into account the items of gross income, deduction and exclusion. . . . in the same manner and amounts as reflected in such taxpayer's federal income tax return. . . ." (Emphasis supplied).

Thus under either Federal or Florida concepts, the concepts of "gross income" derivation and items of exclusion are identical. §220.43(1), F.S. Under such concepts, no amount of "gross income" ("OCS production income"), sourced at the OCS, is recognized or realized under the instant facts and therefore no amount is excludable.

Shell's brief urges that this Court, under the rationale of James v. Dravo Contracting Co., 302 U.S. 134 (1937) and Ramah Navajo School Board v. Bureau of Revenue of

New Mexico, 458 U.S. 832 (1982), recognize federal preemption as to taxation of revenues attributed to a federal enclave.

These cases are totally distinguishable on a factual basis and thus made wholly inapplicable to Shell's contentions, and rather they support the Departments reliance upon a realization requirement.

In the James case, the exclusion from the tax base rested upon a determination that the actual sales of materials had in fact been consummated before the materials were brought into West Virginia - the realization had occurred without the jurisdiction of the taxing state:

The contracts provided for partial payments as the work progressed and that all the material and work covered by the partial payments should thereupon become "the sole property of the Government." Payments by the Government were made from time to time accordingly.

It is clear that West Virginia had no jurisdiction to lay a tax upon respondent with respect to this work done in Pennsylvania. As to the material and equipment there fabricated, the business and activities of respondent *in West Virginia consisted of the installation at the respective sites within that State and an apportionment would in any event be necessary to limit the tax accordingly. Supra at pp. 139-140.

In Ramah, the "sales transaction" giving rise to the gross receipts was both recognized and realized within the

federal enclave because the sale of the personal property (by its conversion to an improvement to realty), together with rendition of the attendant services, was consummated within and therefore realized within the federal enclave. The income producing transaction, the consummation of a sale of personal property, took place without the jurisdiction of the state.

In both Ramah and James, the sales transactions, relating to materials sold which generated the impermissible tax base, were recognized as occurring without the jurisdiction of the taxing state because of where the sales transactions were consummated.

In the instant case, all sales of crude oil and natural gas, at issue, occurred without the jurisdictional limits of the OCS.

In addressing the assignment of sales, for gross receipts tax purposes, the rationale of the decision of the United States Supreme Court in Moorman Manufacturing Company v. Blair, 437 U.S. 267 (1978), starting at page 209, confirms that gross receipts (like gross income) are assigned to the place (taxing jurisdiction) where the sale is made or consummated.

Finally, it would be an exercise in formalism to declare appellant's income tax assessment unconstitutional based on speculative concerns with multiple taxation. For it is

evident that appellant would have had no basis for complaint if, instead of an income tax, Iowa had imposed a more burdensome gross receipts tax on the gross-receipts from sales to Iowa customers. In *Standard Pressed Steel Co. v. Washington Revenue Dept.* 419 US 560, 42 L.Ed.2d 719, 95 S.Ct. 706, the Court sustained a tax on the entire gross receipts from sales made by the taxpayer into Washington State. Because receipts from sales made to States other than Washington were not included in Standard Pressed Steel's taxable gross receipts, the Court concluded that the tax was "apportioned exactly to the activities taxed." *Id.*, at 564, 42 L.Ed.2d 719, 95 S.Ct. 706.

As between the states, Florida apportions income under Chapter 220, F.S. in respect to which Shell has waived its issue. Since the place of sale determines where gross income is both recognized and realized then the question is as certified:

WHETHER THE STATE OF FLORIDA IS PROHIBITED BY 43 U.S.C. §1333(a)(2)(A) FROM IMPOSING A TAX UPON INCOME DERIVED FROM THE SALE IN THE UNITED STATES OF OIL EXTRACTED FROM THE OUTER CONTINENTAL SHELF.

The question certified is framed correctly and should be answered in the negative, as the District Court did when the question was before it. The basis for that negative answer is that the sales which generated the income, which are involved in this case, were consummated wholly, without the jurisdiction of the OCS.

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